Evaluation of high-risk living kidney donors

Kawin Tangdhanakanond¹, Didier Mandelbrot¹

¹The Transplant Institute, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02215

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Risks of living kidney donation
 - 3.1. Perioperative risks
 - 3.2. Long-term risks
- 4. High-risk living kidney donors
 - 4.1. Age
 - 4.2. Race
 - 4.3. Obesity
 - 4.4. Hypertension
 - 4.5. Prediabetes and risk factors for diabetes mellitus
 - 4.6. Kidney function
 - 4.7. Proteinuria
 - 4.8. Isolated hematuria
 - 4.9. Nephrolithiasis
 - 4.10. Familial kidney disease
- 5. Summary
- 6. References

1. ABSTRACT

Careful evaluation of potential living kidney donors is crucial to assure the well being of the donors, especially because they do not gain any direct medical benefit from donation. This process also helps assess the quality and safety of the organs donated to the recipients. While all programs share these goals, donor selection criteria vary significantly among U.S. transplant centers. In part, this is due to the limited data that exists as to longterm outcomes among donors who are medically complex, or at higher risk for complications, such as those with hypertension, obesity, or lower kidney function. This article reviews available evidence regarding outcomes after living donation and current trends in U.S. practices, and seeks to provide practical guidance in evaluating high-risk potential living kidney donors.

2. INTRODUCTION

Kidney transplantation is the preferred treatment for end-stage renal disease, and

compared to deceased donor kidneys, living donor kidneys provide substantial graft and patient survival advantages to the recipients (1). In addition, there is an ever-increasing disparity between organ supply and demand, and living donor kidneys play an important role in meeting this demand. The advent of laparoscopic donor nephrectomy has reduced the morbidity of live donation (2), and increased public awareness of the need for live donors has also contributed to the substantial increase in living kidney donation since the first kidney transplant performed between identical twins in 1954. Finally, increasing evidence demonstrates the perioperative and longterm safety of donation, at least for young, healthy donors (3,4).

The evaluation of kidney donor candidates includes medical, surgical, immunologic, and psychosocial assessments. Suggested routine screening for a potential living kidney donor is summarized in Table 1.

Table 1. Routine screening for a potential living kidney donor

Blood testing - Biochemistry

- · Creatinine and blood urea nitrogen
- · Electrolytes
- · Liver function tests
- · Fasting plasma glucose
- · Fasting lipid profile
- · PSA (if indicated)
- · Pregnancy test (if indicated)

Blood testing - Hematology

- · Complete blood count
- · Coagulation profile

Blood testing - Viral serologies

- · Hepatitis B and C
- HIV 1 and 2
- · Epstein-Barr virus
- · Cytomegalovirus
- · Syphilis
- Toxoplasma

Urine testing

- · Dipstick for glucose, protein, and blood
- · Microscopy and culture
- · Measurement of glomerular filtration rate
- · Measurement of protein excretion rate

Cardiopulmonary testing

- · Chest X-ray
- Electrocardiogram
- · Stress test (if indicated)
- · Echocardiogram (if indicated)

Renal imaging

· CT scan of the kidneys and urinary system

While there is some consensus about the components of the living donor evaluation. there are no universal criteria used to exclude potential donors. The factors that have increased the numbers of donors, including the benefits to recipients and reassurance to donors, have contributed to the loosening of exclusion criteria over the last 15-20 years. The acceptance of more medically complex donors is documented both in the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) data (5), and in surveys of transplant centers in the U.S. (6). For example, programs have increased their acceptance of genetically unrelated donors and no longer have an upper age limit for donation. While data evaluating the safety of accepting more medically complex donors is limited, here we review the evidence that is available, and

attempt to provide guidance in evaluating high-risk potential living donors.

3. RISKS OF LIVING KIDNEY DONATION

3.1. Perioperative risks

Data from the UNOS from 1994 to 2009 showed that surgical mortality within 90 days of living kidney donation was 3.1 per 10,000 donors (7). This risk is lower than that of non-donor nephrectomy (approximately 260 per 10,000 cases) (8) or laparoscopic cholecystectomy (approximately 18 per 10,000 cases) (9).

The risk of major morbidity related to donor nephrectomy is small (2-5%). Reported perioperative complications include bleeding, internal organ injury, lymphocele, urine leak, ileus, pneumothorax or pleural effusion, atelectasis, pneumonia, urinary tract infection, deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolus, as well as wound complication such as wound rupture, wound infection, and incisional hernia (10,11).

3.2. Long-term risks

Long-term risks after donor nephrectomy have been shown to be minimal (3,4). However, the most prominent long-term follow-up studies of living donors were performed in Minnesota and Switzerland, and addressed outcomes in carefully selected, young, Caucasian donors. Whether this reassuring data applies to higher risk donors, such as those with hypertension or African American ancestry, is still unknown.

There are several studies looking at renal function after kidney donation. A meta-analysis of the studies that examined the long-term effect of reduced renal mass after unilateral nephrectomy from various causes (60.5% from organ donation) showed the average decrement in glomerular filtration rate (GFR) of 17.1 mL/min and the subsequent improvement with each 10 years of follow-up (1.4 mL/min/decade; 0.3-2.4. mL/min/ decade) (12). The authors concluded that, in normal individuals, unilateral nephrectomy did not cause progressive renal dysfunction. A similar decrease in GFR after donation was also demonstrated in a study from University of Minnesota showing an average remaining estimated GFR of 76% of the estimated GFR at the time of donation (4). Moreover, this study suggested that a younger age and a higher estimated GFR at the time of donation, as well as a longer time since donation were associated with

a greater compensatory increase in the estimated GFR in the remaining kidney.

In the general population, proteinuria is a marker of kidney disease and is associated with progression of renal failure, along with worse cardiovascular outcomes and mortality (13,14). For the kidney donor population, a systemic review of 42 studies quantified proteinuria after kidney donation (a total of 4,793 donors), with an average of 7 years (range 2-25 years) of follow-up. This study showed substantial differences in the reported incidence of proteinuria after donation, from less than 5% to more than 20% (15). The pooled incidence of proteinuria was calculated to be 12% (95% confidential interval of 8-16%). Whether the development of proteinuria in the donor population could contribute to the development or progression of kidney disease after donor nephrectomy remains unclear, since most available data suggests that the initial decrement in GFR is generally not followed by an accelerated decline.

The risk of developing hypertension after kidney donation also remains uncertain. There are several reports on blood pressure after kidney donation, but the results have been somewhat conflicting. Although several studies reported an increase in blood pressure of 5-10 mmHg (16-20). others found no increase (21,22). A meta-analysis was performed and included 48 studies from 28 countries (a total of 5,145 donors) (23). In this analysis, blood pressure from controlled studies with at least 5 years of average follow-up was 5 mmHg higher in donors than in control participants. An increased risk for hypertension was noted in one out of the 6 controlled studies with the relative risk of 1.9 (95% confidential interval of 1.1-3.5) (24). However, most studies were retrospective, did not have control groups, and had significant rates of incomplete follow-up. The largest single follow-up study of former living donors does not suggest an increased risk of hypertension (4).

A retrospective cohort study using UNOS data from 2004 to 2005 reported a significantly varied proportion of medically complex donors (defined as ones with hypertension, obesity, or estimated GFR less than 60 mL/min/1.7.3m²) among transplant centers in the U.S., ranging from 0% to 65% (mean of 24%) (25). This substantial variation in protocols and criteria for living kidney donors reflects a lack of good evidence regarding postdonation outcomes in these medically complex donors. The following topics

will focus on these issues in medically complex and racially diverse donors.

4. HIGH-RISK LIVING KIDNEY DONORS

4.1. Age

Older donors are more likely to have comorbidities or medically complex issues such as hypertension and lower kidney function. So not surprisingly, they tend to have greater postoperative mortality (7). However, older donors have fewer years at risk to develop chronic kidney disease, so a risk factor such as hypertension is less likely to lead to end-stage renal disease than in a younger donor (26).

UNOS data as well as a survey of U.S. transplant center policies in 2007 show a trend toward increased acceptance of older donors (5). Fifty-nine percent of responders in this survey had no upper age limit, compared to only 27% from an earlier survey in 1995 (6,27).

4.2. Race

183

In the general population, African Americans have substantially higher rates of chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease compared to other ethnic groups (28). However, it is uncertain whether kidney donation increases future risk of hypertension and kidney disease in African Americans more than it does in Caucasians. Several studies have suggested that the risk of end-stage renal disease is increased in black donors compared with white donors (29,30). However, these increased relative risks are not greater than in the general population of blacks compared to whites, suggesting that living donation does not carry significantly greater risks for blacks compared to whites. For example, Cherikh et al showed that even though the rate of end-stage renal disease was nearly five times higher for blacks than for whites, these ethnic differences were similar to those previously reported for end-stage renal disease in the general population (31). Another matched cohort showed long-term mortality risk was not higher for kidney donors than for matched NHANES III participants for all patients and also when stratified by age, sex, and race (7).

Recently, high-risk variants of the APOL1 gene have been found to confer a markedly increased risk for hypertension-attributed kidney disease, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, and HIV nephropathy in African Americans (32). The high-risk genotype in deceased donor kidneys

also appears to be associated with worse allograft survival in recipients (33), although the highrisk genotype in recipients themselves does not seem to affect allograft survival (34). Because of increased concerns about outcomes in African American donors, APOL1 genotyping in African Americans who are potential donors holds promise for identifying subsets of African Americans at higher or lower risk for adverse outcomes. However, the impact of APOL1 variants on future kidney-related outcomes in carefully screened living kidney donors with African heritage is currently unknown.

4.3. Obesity

Obesity in the general population has been associated with surgical complications and other long-term medical problems such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, dyslipidemia, sleep apnea, liver disease, and cardiovascular disease. Obesity is also associated with proteinuria, chronic kidney disease, and end-stage renal disease (35-38). However, limited data exists regarding the effect of obesity on outcomes after donor nephrectomy. Praga et al showed that obese patients undergoing uninephrectomy for medical reasons, not donation, were at high risk for developing proteinuria and renal dysfunction (39). However, Tavakol et al found that obese donors were not at higher risk for long-term renal function impairment compared with non-obese donors at a mean follow-up of 11 years. The authors also suggested that the increased incidence of hypertension and other cardiovascular disease risk factors in these obese donors was due to their obesity and was not further exacerbated by nephrectomy, as the incidence was similar to that found in a matched cohort from the NHANES database (40).

There is encouraging evidence that laparoscopic donor nephrectomy is generally safe in selected obese donors and does not result in a high rate of major perioperative complications (41). Those donors with high body mass index (BMI) had slightly longer operative time and minor wound complications.

Factors that should also be considered along with BMI include body shape, waist circumference, and lean muscle mass. Since these variables are less carefully studied than BMI, they are rarely used in isolation, but can be considered in candidates with borderline BMI, for example, to accept as donor someone who is highly muscular. Obese and overweight potential donors should be encouraged to lose weight prior to kidney

donation, evaluated carefully, and informed of both perioperative and long-term risks.

4.4. Hypertension

Accurate measurement of blood pressure is crucial. At least two measurements should be made and the results confirmed on an additional visit (42). Because as many as 20-35% of patients diagnosed with hypertension have a white-coat effect (43), ambulatory blood pressure monitoring should be considered for potential donors with isolated elevated blood pressure. A recent small study of 17 donors showed remarkable differences between clinic systolic blood pressure and ambulatory systolic blood pressure prior to donation. These differences disappeared 6 months after donation, suggesting a substantial white-coat effect on systolic blood pressure associated with living kidney donor evaluation (44).

Limited data exists on long-term outcomes after live kidney donation by hypertensive donors, and even less information regarding non-Caucasian populations. Textor *et al* compared donors with preexisting hypertension to normotensive donors and found no increase in blood pressure or differences in renal function or urinary protein excretion (45). Tent *et al* reported similar results, also in a mostly Caucasian population (46).

Hypertension exclusion criteria of U.S. transplant centers seem to have become more flexible based on the surveys in 1995 and 2007 (6,27). More recently, close to half of programs will consider donors taking antihypertensive medications. Factors that potentially make the exclusion criteria for preexisting hypertensive donors stricter include younger age, and African American or Hispanic ethnicity. We also suggest that hypertensive donors only be accepted if end-organ damage is ruled out by echocardiogram, urinalysis, and fundoscopy.

4.5. Prediabetes and risk factors for diabetes mellitus

Diabetes mellitus is generally associated with an increased risk of postsurgical complications and future development of renal failure compared to the general population. A study done by Silveiro *et al* suggested that nephrectomy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus was associated with the increased prevalence of microalbuminuria after nephrectomy and might increase the disease progression (47). The guideline from the International Amsterdam Forum on the living donor care advised against

donation from individuals with a history of diabetes mellitus, fasting blood glucose ≥126 mg/dL on at least two occasions, or two-hour glucose on an oral glucose tolerance test or OGTT ≥200 mg/dL) (48). More recent recommendations by the American Diabetes Association also suggest that HbA1c ≥6.5 is diagnostic of diabetes.

Most U.S. transplant centers regard established diabetes mellitus as a contraindication to living kidney donation and many centers also exclude individuals at high risk (6). Risk factors for developing diabetes mellitus include glucose elevations to the pre-diabetes range (HbA1c 5.7-6.4), impaired fasting glucose (100-125 mg/dL), and impaired glucose tolerance (140-200 mg/dL at two hours after OGTT). Other risk factors to consider include an elevated BMI, a history of gestational diabetes, and a familial history of diabetes, especially among first-degree relatives of diabetics (49).

4.6. Kidney function

All potential kidney donors should have their kidney function measured to ensure that they have adequate GFR, both for themselves and for their recipients after transplantation. The Amsterdam Forum suggested that a GFR less than 80 ml/min or two standard deviations below normal (based on age, gender, and body surface area corrected to 1.73 m²) generally preclude donation (48). This guideline is partly based on the finding that kidneys from donors with GFR less than 80 ml/min are associated with a relative risk of graft loss of 2.28 compared to those with higher GFR (50). However, to protect longterm donor safety, we recommend using higher GFR exclusion criteria in younger donors than older donors. While 80 ml/min/1.73 m² is a reasonable GFR for a 60-year-old donor with relatively fewer years during which GFR might decline, the same GFR of 80 ml/min/1.73 m² in a 25-year-old donor should raise concerns as to why that donor's kidney function is so much lower than average for his/her age, and raise concerns that a decline in renal function over time might result in end-stage renal disease.

Creatinine-based estimations of GFR using the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease, Cockcroft-Gault, Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration, and other equations are inaccurate for subjects with close to normal kidney function, especially in obese donors (51-53). These equations tend to underestimate GFR, and the higher the GFR, the more the equations deviate from measured GFR, both above and below the true value. Most transplant

centers in the U.S. measure kidney function using a 24-hour urine collection for creatinine clearance. To assess for over or undercollection of urine, women should have 15-20 mg/kg body weight creatinine and men 20-25 mg/kg body weight (54). Often a second collection is required if the initial collection is not adequate. Some programs are able to use a direct measurement of GFR using an iodinated or radiolabeled marker for all donors (6), while others reserve these direct measures for donors with inconsistent or unexplainable creatinine clearance measurements.

4.7. Proteinuria

Proteinuria is one of the hallmarks of kidney disease, which should be evaluated as a part of the standard donor work-up. Even though the normal laboratory values can vary, the Amsterdam Forum suggests that 24-hour urine protein of more than 300 mg/day is a contraindication to donation (48). Most U.S. transplant centers quantify protein using a 24-hour urine collection. About 60% of centers use a cut-off urine protein of 300 mg/day while 36% of centers use 150 mg/day (6). The main exception to these exclusion criteria is orthostatic proteinuria, a benign condition that can be diagnosed in those under 30 years old using a split urine collection (55).

Urine albumin testing has been shown to be more sensitive than urinary total protein to detect kidney disease, not only for diabetic nephropathy but also for non-diabetic kidney diseases (56). While its value in the kidney donor evaluation has not been directly studied, extensive data suggests an increased risk of developing kidney disease with albumin excretion greater than 30 mg/g creatinine (57). Some suggest that kidney donors be screened and followed with urine albumin measurement, and that candidates with mildly elevated total protein excretion (24-hour urine protein of 150-300 mg) but normal albumin excretion not be excluded from donation (58).

Other factors should also be considered in the setting of borderline proteinuria. For example, transient proteinuria can be benign if associated with fever or exertion. The presence of any other risk factors for kidney disease should be taken into consideration such as concomitant hematuria, prediabetes, hypertension, obesity, or smoking.

4.8. Isolated hematuria

A recent large study of over one million Israeli adolescents and young adults suggested that patients with persistent asymptomatic isolated microscopic hematuria were at an increased risk of developing end-stage renal disease during a mean follow-up of 22 years, although the incidence and absolute risk remained quite low (0.7% compared with 0.045% in the control group) (59). Moreover, the subjects also developed end-stage renal disease at a younger age, with disease more likely due to primary glomerular diseases (incidence rate of 19.6 compared with 0.55 per 100,000 person-years in the control group). Therefore throughout investigation in donors with hematuria is warranted.

Urine cytology and complete urologic work-up should be considered in potential donors with persistent microscopic hematuria to exclude urological malignancy and stone disease. Persistent isolated microscopic hematuria could be due to glomerular causes, predominantly IgA nephropathy, Alport syndrome, and thin basement membrane disease. IgA nephropathy and Alport syndrome are well known to cause renal failure, and renal biopsy is required to distinguish these conditions from benign hematuria with normal renal histology. Some controversy exists as to whether thin basement membrane disease is a contraindication to donation. as many consider thin basement membrane disease to be benign, but some studies have suggested otherwise (60,61). Before allowing someone with thin basement membrane disease to donate, a careful informed consent discussion should highlight the potentially increased risk of developing future kidney disease.

4.9. Nephrolithiasis

The major concern for donors with urinary tract stones is that they could recur and might cause obstruction of a solitary kidney. Some population studies have also found symptomatic kidney stone formers to be at increased risk for chronic kidney disease, especially among those with rare hereditary diseases (cystinuria, primary hyperoxaluria, Dent disease, and 2,8-dihydroxyadenine recurrent urinary tract infections, struvite stones, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus (62). Age of the donor is another important factor since younger donors have a longer exposure to the risk of stone recurrence or renal insufficiency. However, kidney transplantations have been successfully performed from donors with stones (63-65). Ex-vivo ureteroscopy is a technically feasible means of rendering a stone-bearing kidney stone free, without compromising ureteral integrity or kidney allograft function (66,67).

The guideline from the International Amsterdam Forum on the living donor care suggested that stone formers who should not donate are those with nephrocalcinosis on X-ray or bilateral stone disease, as well as those with stone types that have high recurrence rates and are difficult to prevent (48). These stones include cystine stones that have a high rate of recurrence and a need for urologic procedures in the donor, struvite stones or infection stones that are difficult to eradicate, stones associated with inherited or other systemic disorders (such as primary or enteric hyperoxaluria, distal renal tubular acidosis, and sarcoidosis), stones in the setting of inflammatory bowel disease, and other recurrent stones despite being on appropriate treatment.

However, a candidate with a remote history of kidney stones who does not have stones found on high resolution computed tomography may be able to donate a kidney, and would be accepted at most U.S. transplant programs (68). Screening for metabolic stone forming abnormalities, including timed urine collections, can also be helpful in assessing the risk of stone recurrence, especially in a borderline candidate.

4.10. Familial kidney disease

Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (ADPKD) is the most common monogenic kidney disease leading to end-stage renal disease in adults (69,70). Since the main goal of screening the potential living related kidney donors is to exclude the possibility of the donors developing the disease in the future, an ideal screening test should have a negative predictive value (NPV) of 100%.

Ultrasound has demonstrated a NPV of close to 100% when used to screen individuals with a family history of ADPKD who are older than 30-40 years old (71,72). However, ultrasound screening for those donors who are younger than 30-40 years old, especially with milder disease including type 2 ADPKD, is much less accurate, with NPV ranging from 85% to 97%. Computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging are somewhat more sensitive (73,74), but the younger the candidate, the less sensitive will be the imaging.

Younger donor candidates require genetic testing by direct mutational analysis that is commercially available for ADPKD. Accurate genetic testing requires knowledge of the specific mutation causing ADPKD in the family, but this is easily determined in the typical scenario in which a subject wishes to donate to a

family member with end-stage renal disease from ADPKD.

5. SUMMARY

The living kidney donor evaluation can be a complicated process, especially for medically complex donors. Lack of long-term evidence makes it difficult to make evidencebased recommendations in many cases. In these situations, clinicians should make individualized decisions for each potential donor. Many exclusion criteria for donation involve numerical cut-offs, but it is very important that they not be applied rigidly, without considering other aspects of the evaluation. All of the risk factors should be assessed together, in order to estimate the composite perioperative and long-term risk to the donor. Overall, current evidence regarding outcomes of kidney donors is reassuring, even though there is limited longterm data for medically complex donors. We believe that long-term follow-up is necessary for all living donors, not only for their individual health, but also for data collection to make better recommendations in the future.

6. REFERENCES

- SRTR 2011 annual report (Internet). Available at: http://www.ustransplant.org/ annual reports/. Accessed April 1, 2013
- TG Nanidis, D Antcliffe, C Kokkinos, CA Borysiewicz, AW Darzi, PP Tekkis, VE Papalois. Laparoscopic versus open live donor nephrectomy in renal transplantation: a meta-analysis. Ann Surg 247, 58-70 (2008) DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e318153fd13
- I Fehrman-Ekholm, CG Elinder, M Stenbeck, G Tydén, CG Groth. Kidney donors live longer. Transplantation 64, 976-978 (1997)
 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-199710150-00007
- 4. HN Ibrahim, R Foley, L Tan, T Rogers, RF Bailey, H Guo, CR Gross, AJ Matas. Longterm consequences of kidney donation. N Engl J Med 360, 459-469 (2009) DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0804883
- 5. CL Davis, M Cooper. The state of U.S. living kidney donors. Clin J Am Soc

- Nephrol 5, 1873-1880 (2010) DOI: 10.2215/CJN.01510210
- DA Mandelbrot, M Pavlakis, GM Danovitch, SR Johnson, SJ Karp, K Khwaja, DW Hanto, JR Rodrigue. The medical evaluation of living kidney donors: a survey of US transplant centers. Am J Transplant 7, 2333-2343 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.01932.x
- DL Segev, AD Muzaale, BS Caffo, SH Mehta, AL Singer, SE Taranto, MA McBride, RA Montgomery. Perioperative mortality and long-term survival following live kidney donation. JAMA 303, 959-966 (2010) DOI: 10.1001/jama.2010.237
- JD Birkmeyer, AE Siewers, EV Finlayson et al. Hospital volume and surgical mortality in the United States. N Engl J Med 346, 1128-1137 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMsa012337
- CA Steiner, EB Bass, MA Talamini, HA Pitt, EP Steinberg. Surgical rates and operative mortality for open and laparoscopic cholecystectomy in Maryland. N Engl J Med 330, 403-408 (1994) DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199402103300607
- G Mjøen, O Øyen, H Holdaas, K Midtvedt, PD Line. Morbidity and mortality in 1022 consecutive living donor nephrectomies: benefits of a living donor registry. Transplantation 88, 1273-1279 (2009) DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181bb44fd
- S Patel, J Cassuto, M Orloff, G Tsoulfas, M Zand, R Kashyap, A Jain, A Bozorgzadeh, P Abt. Minimizing morbidity of organ donation: analysis of factors for perioperative complications after livingdonor nephrectomy in the United States. Transplantation 85, 561-565 (2008) DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181643ce8
- BL Kasiske, JZ Ma, TA Louis, SK Swan. Long-term effects of reduced renal mass in humans. Kidney Int 48, 814-819 (1995) DOI: 10.1038/ki.1995.355
- BR Hemmelgarn, BJ Manns, A Lloyd, MT James, S Klarenbach, RR Quinn,

187

- N Wiebe, M Tonelli. Alberta Kidney Disease Network. Relation between kidney function, proteinuria, and adverse outcomes. JAMA 303, 423-429 (2010) DOI: 10.1001/jama.2010.39
- 14. M Tonelli, P Jose, G Curhan, F Sacks, E Braunwald, M Pfeffer M: the Cholesterol and Recurrent Events (CARE) Trial Investigators. Proteinuria, impaired kidney function, and adverse outcomes in people with coronary disease: analysis of a previously conducted randomised trial. BMJ 332, 1426-1432 (2006) DOI: 10.1136/bmj.38814.566019.2F
- 15. AX Garg, N Muirhead, G Knoll, RC Yang, GV Prasad, H Thiessen-Philbrook, MP Rosas-Arellano, A Housawi, N Boudville: Donor Nephrectomy Outcomes Research (DONOR) Network. Proteinuria and reduced kidney function in living kidney donors: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. Kidney Int 70, 1801-1810 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/sj.ki.5001819
- N Boudville, GV Prasad, G Knoll et al. Meta-analysis: risk for hypertension in living kidney donors. Ann Intern Med 145, 185-196 (2006)
 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-145-3-2006080 10-00006
- DA Goldfarb, SF Matin, WE Braun et al. Renal outcome 25 years after donor nephrectomy. J Urol 166, 2043-2047 (2001)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0022-5347(05)65502-4
- J Gossmann, A Wilhelm, HG Kachel et al. Long-term consequences of live kidney donation follow-up in 93% of living kidney donors in a single transplant center. Am J Transplant 5, 2417-2424 (2005) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.01037.x
- M Sahay, G Narayen, Anuradha. Risk of live kidney donation - Indian perspective.
 J Assoc Physicians India 55, 267-270 (2007)
- G Mjoen, K Midtvedt, I Holme et al. One- and five-year follow-ups on blood

- pressure and renal function in kidney donors. Transpl Int 24, 73-77 (2011) DOI: 10.1111/j.1432-2277.2010.01148.x
- GV Prasad, D Lipszyc, M Huang et al. A prospective observational study of changes in renal function and cardiovascular risk following living kidney donation. Transplantation 86, 1315-1318 (2008)
 - DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e318188425b
- GV Ramesh Prasad, D Lipszyc, S Sarker et al. Twenty four-hour ambulatory blood pressure profiles 12 months post living kidney donation. Transpl Int 23, 771-776 (2010)
 - DOI: 10.1111/j.1432-2277.2009.01040.x
- N Boudville, GV Prasad, G Knoll, N Muirhead, H Thiessen-Philbrook, RC Yang, MP Rosas-Arellano, A Housawi, AX Garg: Donor Nephrectomy Outcomes Research (DONOR) Network. Meta-analysis: risk for hypertension in living kidney donors. Ann Intern Med 145, 185-196 (2006)
 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-145-3-2006080 10-00006
- TJ Watnick, RR Jenkins, P Rackoff, A Baumgarten, MJ Bia. Microalbuminuria and hypertension in long-term renal donors. Transplantation 45, 59-65 (1988)
- 25. PP Reese, HI Feldman, MA McBride, K Anderson, DA Asch, RD Bloom. Substantial variation in the acceptance of medically complex live kidney donors across US renal transplant centers. Am J Transplant 8, 2062-2070 (2008) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02361.x
- RW Steiner. 'Normal for Now' or 'At Future Risk': a double standard for selecting young and older living kidney donors. Am J Transplant 10, 737-741 (2010) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03023.x
- MJ Bia, EL Ramos, GM Danovitch et al. Evaluation of living renal donors. The current practice of US transplant centers. Transplantation 60, 322-327 (1995) DOI: 10.1097/00007890-199508270-00003

- 28. USRDS 2012 annual report (Internet). Available at: http://www.usrds.org/atlas. aspx/. Accessed April 23, 2013
- 29. EM Gibney, AL King, DG Maluf, AX Garg, CR Parikh. Living kidney donors requiring transplantation: focus on African Americans. Transplantation 84, 647-649 (2007)

DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000277288.78771.c2

- 30. MD Ellison, MA McBride, SE Taranto, FL Delmonico, HM Kauffman. Living kidney donors in need of kidney transplants: a report from the organ procurement and transplantation network. Transplantation 74, 1349-1351 (2002) DOI: 10.1097/00007890-200211150-00025
- 31. WS Cherikh, CJ Young, BF Kramer, SE Taranto, HB Randall, PY Fan, Ethnic and gender related differences in the risk of end-stage renal disease after living kidney donation. Am J Transplant 11, 1650-1655 (2011)

DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03609.x

- 32. MR Pollak, G Genovese, DJ Friedman. APOL1 and kidney disease. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 21, 179-182 (2012) DOI: 10.1097/MNH.0b013e32835012ab
- 33. AM Reeves-Daniel, JA DePalma, AJ Bleyer et al. The APOL1 gene and allograft survival after kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant 11, 1025-1030 (2011) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03513.x
- 34. BT Lee, V Kumar, TA Williams, R Abdi, A Bernhardy, C Dyer, S Conte, G Genovese, MD Ross, DJ Friedman, R Gaston, E Milford, MR Pollak, A Chandraker. The APOL1 genotype of African American kidney transplant recipients does not impact 5-year allograft survival. Am J Transplant 12, 1924-1928 (2012) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04033.x
- 35. K Iseki, Y Ikemiya, C Iseki, S Takishita. Proteinuria and the risk of developing end-stage renal disease. Kidney Int 63, 1468-1474 (2003) DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00868.x
- 36. K Iseki, Y Ikemiya, K Kinjo, T Inoue, C

- Iseki, S Takishita. Body mass index and the risk of development of end-stage renal disease in a screened cohort. Kidney Int 65. 1870-1876 (2004) DOI: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00582.x
- 37. MC Foster, SJ Hwang, MG Larson, JH Lichtman, NI Parikh, RS Vasan, D Levy, CS Fox. Overweight, obesity, and the development of stage 3 CKD: the Framingham Heart Study. Am J Kidney Dis 52, 39-48 (2008) DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2008.03.003
- 38. CY Hsu, CE McCulloch, C Iribarren, J Darbinian, AS Go. Body mass index and risk for end-stage renal disease. Ann Intern Med 144, 21-28 (2006) DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-144-1-200601030-00006
- M Praga, E Hernandez, JC Herrero et al. Influence of obesity on the appearance of proteinuria and renal insufficiency after unilateral nephrectomy. Kidney Int 58, 2111-2118 (2000) DOI: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2000.00384.x
- MM Tavakol, FG Vincenti, H Assadi, MJ Frederick, SJ Tomlanovich, JP Roberts, AM Posselt. Long-term renal function and cardiovascular disease risk in obese kidney donors. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 4, 1230-1238 (2009) DOI: 10.2215/CJN.01350209
- JK Heimbach, SJ Taler, M Prieto, FG Cosio, SC Textor, YC Kudva, GK Chow, MB Ishitani, TS Larson, MD Stegall. Obesity in living kidney donors: clinical characteristics and outcomes in the era of laparoscopic donor nephrectomy. Am J Transplant 5, 1057-1064 (2005) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.00791.x

42. AV Chobanian, GL Bakris, HR Black, WC Cushman, LA Green, JL Izzo Jr, DW Jones, BJ Materson, S Oparil, JT Wright Jr, EJ Roccella: National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure; National High Blood Pressure Education

Program Coordinating Committee. The Seventh Report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure: the JNC 7 report. JAMA 289, 2560-2572 (2003)

DOI: 10.1001/jama.289.19.2560

- TG Pickering, A Coats, JM Mallion, G Mancia, P Verdecchia. Blood pressure monitoring. Task force V: white-coat hypertension. Blood Press Monit 4, 333-341 (1999)
 - DOI: 10.1097/00126097-199905000-00006
- SS DeLoach, KE Meyers, RR Townsend. Living donor kidney donation: another form of white coat effect. Am J Nephrol 35, 75-79 (2012)

DOI: 10.1159/000335070

- 45. SC Textor, SJ Taler, N Driscoll et al. Blood pressure and renal function after kidney donation from hypertensive living donors. Transplantation 78, 276-282 (2004) DOI: 10.1097/01.TP.0000128168.97735. B3
- 46. H Tent, JS Sanders, M Rook, HS Hofker, RJ Ploeg, G Navis, JJ van der Heide. Effects of preexistent hypertension on blood pressure and residual renal function after donor nephrectomy. Transplantation 93, 412-417 (2012) DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e318240e9b9
- 47. SP Silveiro, LA da Costa, MO Beck, JL Gross. Urinary albumin excretion rate and glomerular filtration rate in single-kidney type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 9, 1521-1524 (1998)
 DOI: 10.2337/diacare.21.9.1521
- 48. F Delmonico: Council of the Transplant Society. A report of the Amsterdam forum on the care of the live kidney donor: data and medical guidelines. Transplantation 79, S53-S66 (2005)
 DOI:10.1097/01.TP.0000157343.27949.9F
- 49. ER Seaquist, FC Goetz, S Rich, J Barbosa. Familial clustering of diabetic kidney disease. Evidence for genetic susceptibility to diabetic nephropathy. N

- Engl J Med 320, 1161-1165 (1989) DOI: 10.1056/NEJM198905043201801
- G Norden, A Lennerling, G Nyberg. Low absolute glomerular filtration rate in the living kidney donor: a risk factor for graft loss. Transplantation 70, 1360-1362 (2000)

DOI: 10.1097/00007890-200011150-00016

- 51. AD Rule, HM Gussak, GR Pond, EJ Bergstralh, MD Stegall, FG Cosio, TS Larson. Measured and estimated GFR in healthy potential kidney donors. Am J Kidney Dis 43, 112-119 (2004) DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2003.09.026
- 52. H Tent, M Rook, LA Stevens, WJ van Son, LJ van Pelt, HS Hofker, RJ Ploeg, JJ van der Heide, G Navis. Renal function equations before and after living kidney donation: a within-individual comparison of performance at different levels of renal function. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 5, 1960-1968 (2010)

DOI: 10.2215/CJN.08761209

- 53. N Aggarwal, AC Porter, IY Tang, BN Becker, SK Akkina. Creatinine-based estimations of kidney function are unreliable in obese kidney donors. J Transplant 2012, 872-894 (2012) DOI: 10.1155/2012/872894
- J Kampmann, K Siersbaek-Nielsen, M Kristensen, JM Hansen. Rapid evaluation of creatinine clearance. Acta Med Scand 196, 517-520 (1974)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.0954-6820.1974.tb01053.x
- 55. PD Springberg, LE Garrett Jr, AL Thompson Jr, NF Collins, RE Lordon, RR Robinson. Fixed and reproducible orthostatic proteinuria: results of a 20-year follow-up study. Ann Intern Med 97, 516-519 (1982)
 - DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-97-4-516
- ZK Shihabi, JC Konen, ML O'Connor. Albuminuria vs urinary total protein for detecting chronic renal disorders. Clin Chem 37, 621-624 (1991)
- 57. RT Gansevoort, K Matsushita, M van der Velde, BC Astor, M Woodward, AS Levey,

- PE de Jong, J Coresh: Chronic Kidney Disease Prognosis Consortium. Lower estimated GFR and higher albuminuria are associated with adverse kidney outcomes. A collaborative meta-analysis of general and high-risk population cohorts. Kidney Int 80, 93-104 (2011) DOI: 10.1038/ki.2010.531
- MP Leischner, GO Naratadam, SH Hou, AK Singh, DJ Leehey. Evaluation of proteinuria in healthy living kidney donor candidates. Transplant Proc 38, 2796-2797 (2006)

DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2006.08.126

- 59. A Vivante, A Afek, Y Frenkel-Nir et al. Persistent asymptomatic isolated microscopic hematuria in Israeli adolescents and young adults and risk for end-stage renal disease. J Am Med Assoc 306, 729-736 (2011) DOI: 10.1001/jama.2011.1141
- 60. K Voskarides, L Damianou, V Neocleous et al. COL4A3/COL4A4 mutations producing focal segmental glomerulosclerosis and renal failure in thin basement membrane nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol 18, 3004-3016 (2007) DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2007040444
- JTemme, F Peters, K Lange et al. Incidence of renal failure and nephroprotection by RAAS inhibition in heterozygous carriers of X chromosomal and autosomal recessive Alport mutations. Kidney Int 81, 779-783 (2012) DOI: 10.1038/ki.2011.452
- 62. E Worcester, JH Parks, MA Josephson et al. Causes and consequences of kidney loss in patients with nephrolithiasis. Kidney Int 64, 2204-2213 (2003)

DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00317.x

63. RPS Bhadauria, R Ahlawat, RV Kumar, ES Srinadh, GK Banerjee, M Bhandari. Donor-gifted allograft lithiasis: extracorporeal shockwave lithotripsy with over table module using the lithostar plus. Urologia Internationalis 55, 51-55 (1995) DOI: 10.1159/000282750

- 64. HF Lu, B Shekarriz, ML Stoller. Donorgifted allograft urolithiasis: early percutaneous management. Urology 59, 25-27 (2002) DOI: 10.1016/S0090-4295(01)01490-X
- N Vasdev, J Moir, MT Dosani, R Williams, N Soomro, D Talbot, D Rix. Endourological management of urolithiasis in donor kidneys prior to renal transplant. ISRN Urol 2011, 242690 (2011)
- 66. MG Rashid, JW Konnak, JS Wolf Jr et al. Ex vivo ureteroscopic treatment of calculi in donor kidneys at renal transplantation. J Urol 171, 58-60 (2004) DOI: 10.1097/01.ju.0000101757.69344.de
- 67. GR Schade, JS Wolf, GJ Faerber. Ex-vivo ureteroscopy at the time of live donor nephrectomy. J Endourol 25, 1405-1409 (2011)
 DOI: 10.1089/end.2010.0627
- 68. J Ennis, M Kocherginsky, LP Schumm, E Worcester, FL Coe, MA Josephson. Trends in kidney donation among kidney

stone formers: a survey of US transplant centers. Am J Nephrol 30, 12-18 (2009) DOI: 10.1159/000197115

- 69. JJ Grantham. Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. N Engl J Med 359, 1477-1485 (2008)
 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMcp0804458
- 70. VE Torres, PC Harris, Y Pirson. Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. Lancet 369, 1287-1301 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60601-1
- D Ravine, RN Gibson, RG Walker, LJ Sheffield, P Kincaid-Smith, DM Danks. Evaluation of ultrasonographic diagnostic criteria for autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease 1. Lancet 343, 824-827 (1994)
 - DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(94)92026-5
- C Nicolau, R Torra, C Badenas, R Vilana, L Bianchi, R Gilabert, A Darnell, C Brú. Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease types 1 and 2: assessment of US sensitivity for diagnosis. Radiology 213, 273-276 (1999)

191

Evaluation of high-risk living kidney donors

DOI: 10.1148/radiology.213.1.r99oc05273

- E Levine, JJ Grantham. The role of computed tomography in the evaluation of adult polycystic kidney disease. Am J Kidney Dis 1, 99-105 (1981)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0272-6386(81)80036-4
- 74. MS Zand, J Strang, M Dumlao, D Rubens, E Erturk, O Bronsther. Screening a living kidney donor for polycystic kidney disease using heavily T2-weighted MRI. Am J Kidney Dis 37, 612-619 (2001) DOI: 10.1053/ajkd.2001.22089

Key Words: Kidney, Donor, Evaluation, High Risk, Transplant, Review

Send correspondence to: Didier Mandelbrot, Address: 4177 Medical Foundation Centennial Building, 1685 Highland Ave, Madison, WI 53705, Tel: 608-265-9298, Fax: 608-262-6743, E-mail: damandel@medicine.wisc.edu